NO. 337006 BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 14-1-01265-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. TIMOTHY GARLDAND KENDALL, Appellant. BRIEF OF APPELLANT MICHELLE TROMBLEY

MICHELLE TROMBLEY WSBA # 42912 Attorney for Appellant

TROMBLEY LAW PLLC 7135 West Hood Place Kennewick, Washington 99336 (509) 491-3941

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT
	1. The evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for delivery of methamphetamine
	CONCLUSION
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
<u>Wasl</u>	Table of Cases
State	v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)
State	v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 137 P.3d 892 (Div. 2, 2006)4, 5,6
State	v. Hepton, 113 Wn.App. 673, 54 P.3d 233 (Div. 3, 2002)4
State	v. Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. 672, 935, P.2d 623 (Div. 2, 1997)4
State	v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)5

State v. Hudlow, 182 Wn. App. 266, 331 P.3d. 90 (Div. 3, 2014)5,6			
State v. McNeal, 98 Wn.App. 585, 592, 991 P.2d 649 (Div. 2, 1999)4			
State v. McPherson, 111 Wn.App. 747, 756, 46 P.3d 284 (Div. 3, 2002)4			
State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) 4			
Other Jurisdictions			
State v. Watson, 231 Neb. 507, 437 N.W. 2d 142 (1989)			
Statutes			
RCW 69.50.2068			

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Kendall of Delivery of Methamphetamine.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Was there insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Kendall of Delivery of Methamphetamine?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 5, 2014 Alena Inman and Timothy Kendall made a spur of the moment decision to travel to the Seattle area together. 07/20/2015 RP 22. Ms. Inman testified that she was a heavy methamphetamine user during the two years leading up to November 2014. 07/20/2015 RP 19-22 &36. Ms. Inman testified that on the trip to Seattle, she and Mr. Kendall would occasionally stop and smoke "meth." 07/20/2015 RP 22. Ms. Inman testified that it was Mr. Kendall who provided the "meth." 07/20/2015 RP 22.

Ms. Inman testified that she had used methamphetamine before, and was asked to describe what the substance looked like. 07/20/2015 RP 24. Ms. Inman stated "[i]t's not powdery. It's crystally and it's hard." 07/20/2015 RP 24. The State asked Ms. Inman "[c]an you tell the jury if this item that the defendant was giving you was definitely methamphetamine?" 07/20/2015 RP

24. Ms. Inman responded "[t]o be honest, I'm not sure. It was really powdery and didn't look like regular crystal meth." 07/20/2015 RP 24. Ms. Inman continued to discuss her opinion of the substance indicating "[w]ell, I thought I was doing methamphetamine until it made me really, really tired and I couldn't comprehend anything." 07/20/2015 RP 25. Ms. Inman later testified that she "knew" the substance she was given was not methamphetamine but was unsure of what exactly it was. 07/20/2015 RP 40.

Ms. Inman and Mr. Kendall began their return trip to the Tri-Cities on November 6, 2014, ultimately arriving back in Richland in the early morning of November 7, 2015. 07/20/2015 RP 26 & 29. Ms. Inman testified the two continued smoking this "meth" throughout the return trip. 07/20/2015 RP 26-29. Ms. Inman alleged Mr. Kendall sexually assaulted her after their return to Richland and reported to the Emergency Room at approximately 11:42 am. 07/20/2015 RP 34. At this time a blood and urine sample was taken from Ms. Inman. 07/20/2015 RP 35. These specimens were tested at the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab by Dawn Sklerov. 07/20/2015 RP 82-83.

Ms. Sklerov testified that the blood specimen was tested for a number of substances and nothing was detected in Ms. Inman's blood. 07/20/2015 RP 85.

The basic drug screening that was performed on the urine sample indicated there was amphetamine and methamphetamine detected. 07/20/2015 RP 86.

Ms. Sklerov indicated that the reason for detection of amphetamine and methamphetamine in the urine but not the blood was as follows:

A majority of the time if you are a chronic user of methamphetamine it actually will stay in your system a little bit longer. It could be between one to four days of actually the methamphetamine being in your body..."

07/20/2015 RP 86.

Ms. Sklerov further testified:

[T]he half life of methamphetamine is between six to fifteen hours so that would mean that within this time frame the amount that was used between six to fifteen hours that that elimination about half of the drug would also be detected in the blood.

07/20/2015 RP 87-88.

Ms. Sklerov went on to clarify that the last use of methamphetamine could have been as far back as November 2nd or 3rd. 07/20/2015 RP 91.

Mr. Kendall was charged with Rape in the third degree and Delivery of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. CP 1-2. The Jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the charge of Rape in the third degree and Guilty on the delivery of methamphetamine charge. CP 10-11. Mr. Kendall now appeals his underlying conviction of delivery of a controlled substance.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. The evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for delivery of methamphetamine

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and asks whether any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Hepton*, 113 Wn.App. 673, 681, 54 P.3d 233 (2002). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. McNeal*, 98 Wn.App. 585, 592, 991 P.2d 649 (Div. 2, 1999), *aff'd*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). All reasonable inferences must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal." *State v. McPherson*, 111 Wn.App. 747, 756, 46 P.3d 284 (2002) (quoting *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)).

Generally, "a chemical analysis is not vital to uphold a conviction for possession of a controlled substance." *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). Circumstantial evidence and lay testimony may be sufficient to establish the identity of a drug in a criminal case. *State v. Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. 672-75, 935, P.2d 623 (1997). Lay witnesses may testify if they are familiar with the substance through prior use, trading, or law enforcement. *Id* at 676. Circumstantial evidence may include the substance's packaging as well as its physical characteristics. *Id* at 677.

When determining whether circumstantial evidence proves the identity of the substance beyond a reasonable doubt, courts have considered the following non-exhaustive list of factors:

(1) testimony by witnesses who have a significant amount of experience with the drug in question, so that their identification of the drug as the same as the drug in their past experience is highly credible; (2) corroborating testimony by officers or other experts as to the identification of the substance; (3) references made to the drug by the defendant and others, either by the drug's name or a slang term commonly used to connote the drug; (4) prior involvement by the defendant in drug trafficking; (5) behavior characteristic of use or possession of the particular controlled substance; and (6) sensory identification of the substance if the substance is sufficiently unique.

Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. At 801, citing, State v. Watson, 231 Neb. 507, 514-17, 437 N.W. 2d 142 (1989).

Ordinarily, to be guilty of delivery of a controlled substance, the accused need only know that the substance was a controlled substance, he need not know the nature of the forbidden substance. *State v. Hudlow*, 182 Wn. App. 266, 285, 331 P.3d. 90 (2014). However, under the law of the case doctrine, the State assumes the burden of proving otherwise unnecessary elements of the offense when such added elements are included without objection in the "to convict" instruction. *State v. Hudlow*, 182 Wn. App. 266, 285, 331 P.3d. 90 (2014), *citing*, *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). In such a case, the defendant may then challenge the sufficiency of evidence of an

element in the "to convict" instruction, even if that element is not part of the underlying statute. *Hudlow*, 182 Wn. App. At 285.

In the instant case, the to-convict instruction presented to the jury, without objection by the State, indicated:

(1) That on or about November 6, 2014 to November 7, 2014, the defendant delivered a controlled substance; (2) That the defendant knew the substance delivered was a controlled substance, methamphetamine; and (3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

07/22/2015 RP 10.

As such, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance delivered was methamphetamine. In this case, the actual substance Ms. Inman alleged Mr. Kendall had provided to her was never presented to law enforcement, collected as evidence, or subject to any testing. Ms. Inman, as a heavy methamphetamine user, surely was in a position to provide the lay testimony contemplated by the court in *Colquitt*. *Colquitt*, 133 Wn. App. At 801. However, Ms Inman's testimony clearly indicates she did not believe the substance she was provided with to be methamphetamine:

O: What does it look like?

A: It's not powdery. It's crystally and it's hard.

07/20/2015 RP 24.

Q: Can you tell the jury if this item that the defendant was giving you was definitely methamphetamine?

A: To be honest, I'm not sure. It was really powdery and didn't look like regular crystal meth.

07/20/2015 RP 24.

Q: I'm Sorry. What drug did you think you were using, doing? A: Well, I thought I was doing methamphetamine until it made me really, really tired and I couldn't comprehend anything.

07/20/2015 RP 25.

Q: Do you have any reason to believe Mr. Kendall gave you anything beside methamphetamine, something in addition to the methamphetamine?

A: I knew.

Q: What do you think it was?

A: To be honest I'm not sure. I never fell asleep on methamphetamine before. It was real powdery.

07/20/2015 RP 40.

The testimony provided by Dawn Sklerov only seemed to cloud the issue. There were no controlled substances detected in Ms. Inman's blood. 07/20/2015 RP 85. This finding indicates that there was no recent use – within the last 15 hours- of methamphetamine. 07/20/2015 RP 87-88. If Ms. Inman had been using methamphetamine provided by Mr. Kendall on the trip home there would have been methamphetamine in her blood given the timeline provided by Ms. Sklerov.

Further, the drug screening that was performed on the urine sample indicated there was amphetamine and methamphetamine detected. 07/20/2015

RP 86. Methamphetamine and amphetamine have different chemical compositions. See Random House Dictionary 70, 1209 (2d ed. 1987). Pursuant to the express definitions found in RCW 69.50.206(d)(1) and (2), these substances are considered as two different Schedule II controlled substances.

Ms. Sklerov indicated the reason for amphetamine could be that it is the metabolite that the body produces from methamphetamine and that it is not a separate drug. 07/202015 RP 89. However, they are clearly different substances under RCW 69.50.206 which lists both substances individually and differently. Additionally, the existence of methamphetamine in Ms. Inman's urine does not equate to a timeline of when she may have ingested methamphetamine 07/20/2015 RP 88 & 91.

Given Ms. Inman's testimony that based on her experience as a heavy and frequent methamphetamine user that the particular substance provided to her by Mr. Kendall did not have the same appearance or effect of methamphetamine, combined with her testimony that based on those experiences the substance clearly was not methamphetamine it is clear that circumstantial evidence presented was not sufficient to convict Mr. Kendall of delivery of methamphetamine.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, Mr. Kendall respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction for delivery of methamphetamine.

May <u>24</u>, 2016