COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED
Jul 13, 2016
Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

TIMOTHY GARLAND KENDALL,

v.

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 14-1-01265-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Terry J. Bloor, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Was there sufficient evidence to convict the defendant of Delivery of a Controlled Substance?
 - 1. What is the standard on review on challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence?
 - 2. Viewing Ms. Inman's testimony, the defendant's admissions, and the toxicology report in the light most favorable to the State, could a rational jury find the defendant delivered methamphetamine to Ms. Inman?
 - 3. Are there reasonable explanations why the drug looked different from the methamphetamine Ms. Inman was used to?

II. COUNTER STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background of Alena Inman as methamphetamine user.

Alena Inman graduated from high school in 2011. RP¹ at 18. She had done well in high school, participating as a leadership student in special education and being a teacher's assistant. RP at 19. However, roughly two years later, she became involved with methamphetamine. RP at 19. By the time of the offense herein, November 5, 2014, she was using methamphetamine daily. RP at 36.

Ms. Inman (DOB: 08/20/1992) was 22 years old when the relevant events occurred. RP at 18.

B. The defendant gives Ms. Inman methamphetamine to and from a trip to Seattle.

Ms. Inman was couch surfing around November 5, 2014. RP at 21. On the early morning of November 5, 2014, she landed at the residence of Julie Trent. RP at 20, 22. The defendant happened to be there. RP at 20. On the spur of the moment, she and the defendant began talking about taking a trip to Seattle; at about 5:00 a.m., they were on the road to Seattle. RP at 22.

The defendant gave Ms. Inman methamphetamine throughout the trip to and from Seattle. RP at 24. Ms. Inman described how the defendant would frequently stop on the trip to Seattle for them to smoke methamphetamine. RP at 22. Around Bellevue, they again smoked methamphetamine in an alley. RP at 23.

Ms. Inman slept for about 13 hours in a motel in downtown

Seattle. RP at 26. Although Ms. Inman has found that methamphetamine keeps her awake, a user will eventually become very tired and may sleep for a very long period of time. RP at 37, 92.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, "RP" refers to the verbatim report of proceedings of jury trial testimony on 07/21-22/2015.

After Ms. Inman woke up, the defendant drove her back to the Tri Cities area, again supplying her with methamphetamine. RP at 28.

The defendant supplied all of the methamphetamine Ms. Inman used on the trip; she estimates the total he gave her was around a quarter of an ounce. RP at 47-48.

C. The defendant admits using methamphetamine and smoking it with Ms. Inman.

The defendant was not initially truthful with the police about his methamphetamine use. RP at 154. However, he eventually admitted to Detective Murstig to using methamphetamine and smoking it with Ms. Inman in Seattle or on the way back to the Tri Cities. RP at 72-73, 124. When testifying, he stated that he smoked methamphetamine with Ms. Inman on the way to Seattle and in the motel room. RP at 125-26. He claimed that Ms. Inman was the one who supplied the methamphetamine. RP at 124.

D. Toxicology evidence confirms Ms. Inman used methamphetamine.

On November 7, 2011, Ms. Inman went to Kadlec Medical Center, stating that the defendant had non-consensual sex with her. RP at 31, 34. Methamphetamine and amphetamine were detected in Ms. Inman's urine. RP at 86. Methamphetamine is the drug consumed; amphetamine is the metabolite produced from the methamphetamine. RP at 89.

Methamphetamine could stay in a chronic user's urine for one to four days. RP at 86.

The jury found the defendant guilty of Delivery of a Controlled Substance, CP 11.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard on Review

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction when, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn from that evidence. *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn. App. 789, 137 P.3d 892 (2006).

B. In the light most favorable to the State, Ms. Inman testified unambiguously that the defendant supplied her with methamphetamine, the defendant made very damaging admissions about his using methamphetamine with Ms. Inman, and the toxicology report confirmed Ms. Inman's testimony.

Ms. Inman's testimony: Ms. Inman repeatedly stated that the defendant gave her methamphetamine. "We smoked methamphetamine [on the trip to Seattle] and took the back way to Seattle. We took Steven's Pass and every five to ten minutes he would pull over, two, three hours with no cell phone reception and we would sit and talk and smoke meth." RP at 22.

We arrived and went and visited his son and from his son's house we went to my cousin John David in Kent and smoked weed and then I got a hold of my best friend, Olympia, and met up with her. We got in the car. We drove to—it was Bellevue and drove to a little alleyway and we went and got a pipe to smoke methamphetamine and an incense burner.

. .

And we smoked a couple bowls and I had to go to the bathroom so we went to McDonald's

RP at 23. On the way back from Seattle, "I read the sign and we were at Crystal Springs and I have no idea where that is located and stopped and smoked a bowl of methamphetamine." RP at 27-28. She and the defendant talked about the substance being methamphetamine. RP at 25.

The defendant's admissions: The defendant admitted that he uses methamphetamine, that he used methamphetamine with Ms. Inman on the way to Seattle and in the motel room in Seattle, and that he was not honest with the police on these points. RP at 124-25, 154.

Toxicologist's testimony: Forensic Scientist Dawn Skerlov found methamphetamine in Ms. Inman's urine sample:

The basic drug screening was performed on the urine and there was amphetamine [and] methamphetamine detected and then that went onto further confirmation forensically... to get ... a check and balance So, we did amphetamine and methamphetamine testing and this also came back positive for methamphetamine in the urine.

RP at 82, 86.

Reasonable inferences: First, the methamphetamine had to come from either Ms. Inman or the defendant. Ms. Inman was a 22-year-old without a residence, car, or income. RP at 18, 21, 48. The defendant at least had a residence, a vehicle, receives disability, and does some side work. RP at 147-48. He was able to pay for the motel room in Seattle and gas for the trip. Id. It is reasonable to infer that, since the defendant had some financial assets while Ms. Inman had none, he purchased the methamphetamine.

Second, the defendant and Ms. Inman both agree there was sexual intercourse between them. RP at 31, 127. But, Ms. Inman testified the defendant raped her; the defendant claims it was consensual. *Id.* The jury found the defendant not guilty of the rape charge. CP 10. It is a reasonable inference that the defendant, a 60-year-old grandfather, would give Ms. Inman, a 22-year-old, methamphetamine hoping to have sex with her. RP at 65, 125. The jury could have easily concluded that the defendant and Ms. Inman had a consensual exchange: methamphetamine for sex.

Even without these inferences, based on the direct testimony it was reasonable for the jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant gave Ms. Inman methamphetamine. Ms. Inman directly testified that he did so, the toxicologist confirmed Ms. Inman had

methamphetamine in her system, and the defendant's denials were not credible.

Case law supports the conviction: A chemical test "is not vital to uphold a conviction for possession of a controlled substance." Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. at 796. Circumstantial evidence and lay testimony may be sufficient to establish the identity of a drug in a criminal case. Id. In Colquitt, the only evidence was that a police officer stated that the substance "appeared" to be cocaine. Id. at 792. Although the police officer field-tested the substance, there was no laboratory test and no admissions by the defendant. Id. at 792-93. The Court reversed the conviction. Id. at 802. Contrast that with the evidence herein: direct testimony identifying the substance as methamphetamine from a user, confirmation from a toxicologist, and an admission from the defendant that he and the witness were using methamphetamine.

C. The reason the substance did not look like the methamphetamine Ms. Inman was used to is easily explained.

The defendant points out that the substance the defendant gave to Ms. Inman looked different to her. She was used to methamphetamine in a crystal form, not powder. RP at 24. But, she was sure that the defendant had added some substance to the methamphetamine.

Q: Do you have any reason to believe Mr. Kendall gave you anything besides methamphetamine, something in addition to methamphetamine?

A: I knew.

Q: What do you think it was?

A: To be honest I'm not sure. I never fell asleep on methamphetamine before. It was real powdery. I've had memory problems since I smoked that.

RP at 40.

The defendant added something to the methamphetamine he gave Ms. Inman. That explains why she thought it looked different and why it affected her differently. But, they both knew they were using methamphetamine. Ms. Inman: RP at 22-23, 25, 28, 47; Defendant: RP at 72-73, 124-25.

Further, while Ms. Inman may not be familiar with methamphetamine in powder form, it is commonly smoked as a powder. See NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON DRUG ABUSE, DRUG FACTS:

METHAMPHETAMINE (January 2014) available at https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/methamphetamine.

Also, methamphetamine is a drug with two phases: In the first phase, the user is alert. RP at 92. In the second phase, the user can sleep for long periods of time. *Id.* Ms. Inman's reaction to the methamphetamine and her crashing in the downtown Seattle motel seem consistent with the second phase.

The defendant also attaches some significance to the difference between amphetamine and methamphetamine. However, both the first and second toxicology tests found methamphetamine in Ms. Inman's urine. In any event, they are associated drugs. Methamphetamine is the drug consumed and amphetamine is the metabolite produced by the body.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the aforementioned rationale, the defendant's conviction should be affirmed.